In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA)

Plaintiff and Respondent,)

v.)

JULIAN MICAH BULLARD,)

Defendant and Appellant,)

Case No. S239488

(4th Crim. B263164)

(Sup.Ct.No. FVII1200894)

SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAR 23 2013

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JOHN P. VANDER FEER, JUDGE

Jorge Navarrete Clerk
Deputy

PETITIONER AND APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. FITZER
Attorney at Law
(State Bar No. 156904)

6285 East Spring Street, 276N
Long Beach, California 90808
Telephone: (562) 429-4000
Roclwyr@aol.com

By appointment of the Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

This Court originally granted review and held the instant case pending its decision in *People v. Page*. On February 21, 2018, the Court ordered the parties to brief the following question: “Does equal protection or the avoidance of absurd consequences require that misdemeanor sentencing under Penal Code section 490.2 and 1170.18 extend not only to those convicted of violating Vehicle Code section 10851 by theft, but also those convicted of taking a vehicle without the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession? (See *People v. Page* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1175, 1188, fn. 5.)”

The short answer to the Court’s question is that treating those convicted of merely driving a vehicle in violation of Vehicle Code section 10851 more harshly than those who stole the vehicle would lead to absurd consequences. Doing so would also violate the equal protection clause of both the state and federal constitutions. For these reasons, petitioner urges this Court to hold that anyone convicted of violating Vehicle Code section 10851, no matter the underlying facts, is entitled to the ameliorative benefits of Proposition 47 if the value of the vehicle involved was worth \$950 or less.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 23, 2012, Bullard waived his constitutional rights and pled guilty to a violation of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a). Pursuant to the terms of the plea agreement, the court sentenced Bullard to the low-term of one year, four months. (Slip Opn. p. 3.)

On March 9, 2016, Bullard filed a petition, pursuant to Proposition 47, to have his conviction reduced to a misdemeanor. On April 15, 2016, the Superior Court denied the petition, finding that a conviction suffered under Vehicle Code section 10851; subdivision (a) is not a qualifying offense under Proposition 47. Bullard filed a timely notice of appeal. (Slip Opn. 3.)

On December 12, 2016, the Court of Appeal affirmed the denial of the Proposition 47 petition, finding that convictions suffered under Vehicle Code section 10851 do not qualify. Justice Miller, in dissent, opined that some convictions suffered under section 10851 qualify for reduction under Proposition 47. Justice Miller concurred in the result because the justice believed that Bullard failed to prove that the vehicle involved was worth \$950 or less and also failed to show that he intended to permanently deprive the owner of the vehicle of possession thereof.¹ (Opn. Justice Miller p. 1.)

^{1/} Petitioner believes the police report relied upon by the majority opinion demonstrates the value of the vehicle was only \$500. (Slip Opn. p. 2.)

On February 22, 2017, this Court granted review and held this case pending the opinion in *People v. Page* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1175. On February 21, 2018, the Court asked the parties to brief an equal protection/absurd consequences issue, which was framed by the Court in its order. The issue was not raised by petitioner in his Court of Appeal briefing or in his petition for review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Relying on a police report, the Court of Appeal described the facts surrounding Bullard's arrest as follows:

“In April 2012, defendant stayed overnight at his girlfriend's residence in Apple Valley, California. On the morning of April 11, 2012, defendant took his girlfriend's car keys from her purse without her permission and took her 1993 Lincoln Towncar while she was not home. Later that night, hours after his girlfriend reported the vehicle stolen, defendant agreed to meet his girlfriend and return her vehicle. Police were waiting for defendant at his girlfriend's place of employment when he showed up to drop off the vehicle and arrested him. The vehicle had approximately 260,000 miles on it and was valued at \$500.” (Slip Opn. 2.)

ARGUMENT

I.

THE ABSURD CONSEQUENCES DOCTRINE REQUIRES THAT PETITIONER'S CONVICTION FOR THE UNLAWFUL DRIVING OF A MOTOR VEHICLE UNDER VEHICLE CODE SECTION 10851 BE TREATED THE SAME WAY AS A CONVICTION FOR THE UNLAWFUL TAKING OF A VEHICLE IS NOW TREATED UNDER *PEOPLE V. PAGE*.

This Court asked the parties to address an issue left open in the Court's recent opinion in *People v. Page, supra*, 3 Cal.5th 1175: "Does equal protection or the avoidance of absurd consequences require that misdemeanor sentencing under Penal Code section 490.2 and 1170.18 extend not only to those convicted of violating Vehicle Code section 10851 by theft, but also those convicted of taking a vehicle without the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession?" Petitioner argues that under both the doctrine of absurd consequences, as well as the equal protection clause, that the ameliorative benefits of Proposition 47, which this Court extended in *Page* to those convicted of stealing a car under Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a), also apply to those convicted of merely driving or temporarily depriving the owner of possession of his or her automobile.

A. *Vehicle Code Section 10851.*

Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a), provides in relevant part as follows:

“(a) Any person who drives or takes a vehicle not his or her own, without the consent of the owner thereof, and with intent either to permanently or temporarily deprive the owner thereof of his or her title to or possession of the vehicle, whether with or without intent to steal the vehicle, or any person who is a party or an accessory to or an accomplice in the driving or unauthorized taking or stealing, is guilty of a public offense and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by imprisonment in a county jail for not more than one year or pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 1170 of the Penal Code or by a fine of not more than five thousand dollars (\$5,000), or by both the fine and imprisonment.” (Veh. Code, § 10851, subd. (a).)

This Court has found that this often confusing statute “proscribes a wide range of conduct.” (*People v. Garza* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 866, 876.) Specifically, the Court has held that “a person can violate that section by driving or taking a vehicle. The acts constituting driving a vehicle and taking a vehicle are separate and distinct.” (*People v. Barrick* (1982) 33 Cal.3d 115, 135, citing *People v. Jaramillo* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 752, 759, fn. 6.) Thus, while a defendant can violate section 10851 by stealing the vehicle, he can also do so simply by driving the vehicle after the theft occurs. And, according to this Court, “a conviction under section 10851(a) for posttheft driving is not a theft conviction” (*People v. Garza, supra*, 35 Cal.4th at p. 871.) “The same is true when

a defendant acted with intent only to deprive the owner *temporarily* of possession.

Regardless of whether the defendant drove or took the vehicle, he did not commit auto theft if he lacked the intent to steal.” (*People v. Page, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1183 [emphasis in original], citing *People v. Garza, supra*, 35 Cal.4th at p. 871.)

B. People v. Page

In *People v. Page, supra*, 3 Cal.5th 1175, this Court opined that the lower courts which had held defendants convicted under Vehicle Code section 10851 were “categorically ineligible for resentencing under Proposition 47” were incorrect. (*Id.*, at p. 1180.) The Court relied on its earlier decision in *People v. Garza, supra*, 35 Cal.4th 866, where it explained that a defendant who has been convicted under Vehicle Code section 10851 for taking a vehicle with the intent to permanently deprive the owner of the vehicle had been convicted of a theft offense. (*Id.*, at p. 871.) In the context of Proposition 47, this Court has explained that wrongfully obtaining any property valued at \$950 or less constitutes a petty theft. (*People v. Romanowski* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 903, 908.)

This Court concluded, therefore, that while “Penal Code section 1170.18 (section 1170.18) does not expressly refer to Vehicle Code section 10851, . . . it does permit resentencing to a misdemeanor under Penal Code section 490.2 (section 490.2) for theft of property worth \$950 or less.” (*People v. Page, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1180.) “As a result, after the passage of Proposition 47, an offender who obtains a car valued at less

than \$950 *by theft* must be charged with petty theft and may not be charged as a felon under any other criminal provision.” (*Id.*, at p. 1183, citing *People v. Van Orden* (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 1277, 1288, rev. granted June 14, 2017, S241574.) Further, anyone so convicted and sentenced prior to the passage of Proposition 47 is entitled to have that conviction reversed to a misdemeanor. (See Pen. Code, § 1170.18, subd. (a).)

In reaching its decision in *People v. Page*, this Court did “not reach defendant’s alternative contentions that a statutory distinction between automobile thieves convicted under the two statutes would be absurd or would violate equal protection principles.” (*Id.*, at pp. 1187 - 1188.) The Court also noted, in footnote 5, that it did not have occasion “to consider whether equal protection or the avoidance of absurd consequences requires that misdemeanor sentencing under sections 490.2 and 1170.18 extend not only to those convicted of theft under Vehicle Code section 10851, but also to those convicted for taking a vehicle *without* the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession.” (*Id.*, at p. 1188, fn. 5 [emphasis in original].) That issue is now squarely before the Court in the instant appeal.

C. The Absurd Consequences Doctrine.

Under the doctrine of absurd consequences, referenced in this Court’s opinion in *People v. Page* and its order for briefing in this case, “the language of a statute should not be given a literal meaning if doing so would result in absurd consequences which the Legislature did not intend. [Citation.]” (*People v. Cook* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 922,

927, quoting *Younger v. Superior Court* (1978) 21 Cal.3d 102, 113.) Rather, courts should adopt a statutory construction that most closely comports with the apparent intent of the voters, with a view toward promoting, rather than defeating, the general purpose of the initiative. (See *People v. Rubalcava* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 322, 332.) Any ambiguities in the law should not be interpreted in a manner that causes “an absurd result, or a result inconsistent with apparent legislative intent.” (*People v. Cruz* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 782–783.) Perhaps the Court best summed up the absurd consequences doctrine in *People v. Pieters* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894 when it opined:

“The fundamental purpose of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. [Citations.] In order to determine this intent, we begin by examining the language of the statute. [Citations.] But ‘[i]t is a settled principle of statutory interpretation that language of a statute should not be given a literal meaning if doing so would result in absurd consequences which the [legislative body] did not intend.’ [Citations.] Thus, ‘[t]he intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act.’ [Citation.] Finally, we do not construe statutes in isolation, but rather read every statute ‘with reference to the entire scheme of law of which it is part so that the whole may be harmonized and retain effectiveness.’ [Citation.]” (*Id.*, at pp. 898-899.)

This Court has had several occasions to read provisions or exceptions into a new act or initiative in order to effectuate the clear intent of the new law and to avoid the absurd consequences that blindly following the express language of the law would engender. For instance, in *Younger v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 21 Cal.3d 102, the Court

was forced to interpret newly enacted Health and Safety Code section 11361.5, subdivision (b), which permitted the destruction of certain official records pertaining to possession of marijuana convictions. Relying, in part, upon the principle of absurd consequences, the Court found that the Legislature meant the statute to apply only to persons who have completed their punishment before seeking relief, even though the statute is silent on this point. To hold otherwise would allow defendants whose case was still pending on appeal, or who had not completed parole, or who had not paid all of their fines and fees, to possibly “escape or reduce that punishment by the device of compelling destruction of the very records on which it is based.” (*Id.*, at p. 113.) This Court, therefore, held “that section 11361.5, subdivision (b) . . . , neither requires nor authorizes destruction of records of a conviction that remains subject to review on appeal, or is the basis of a term of imprisonment that has not been fully served, or of a fine that has not been wholly paid, or of periods or conditions of parole or probation that have not been satisfactorily completed.” (*Id.*, at pp. 113 - 114.)

Similarly, in *People v. Pieters, supra*, 52 Cal.3d 894, the Court had to decide “whether ‘drug quantity’ enhancements imposed pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 11370.4 . . . were impliedly excepted from the double-base-term limitation of former Penal Code section 1170.1, subdivision (g) . . . prior to the effective date of the present explicit exception.” (*Id.*, at pp. 896 - 897.) The express legislative purpose of adding section 11370.4 to the Health and Safety Code was “to punish more severely those

persons who are in the regular business of trafficking in, or production of, narcotics and those persons who deal in large quantities of narcotics as opposed to individuals who have a less serious, occasional, or relatively minor role in this activity.” (*Id.*, at p. 898, quoting Stats. 1985, ch. 1398, § 1, p. 4948.) The Court of Appeal below had “assumed the Legislature was aware of former Penal Code section 1170.1(g) when it enacted section 11370.4 and concluded that creating a statutory exception where the Legislature has failed to do so would intrude upon a legislative function[.]” (*Id.*, at pp. 900 - 901 [citations omitted].) Citing the absurd consequences doctrine, this Court concluded that “the Court of Appeal’s interpretation of section 11370.4 [was] inconsistent with the Legislature’s stated purpose for that section,” and, therefore, “decline[d] to adopt it[.]” Instead, the Court found that “the Legislature impliedly created an exception to former Penal Code section 1170.1(g) when it enacted section 11370.4.”² (*Id.*, at p. 902.)

In *Brown v. Superior Court* (1984) 37 Cal.3d 477, the Court was faced with

^{2/} The Court noted that it had employed similar reasoning in *People v. Jackson* (1985) 37 Cal.3d 826, where it was confronted with a “draftsman’s error” in Proposition 8 which added the five-year prior serious felony enhancement of Penal Code section 667, subdivision (a). The issue before the Court was whether the double the base term limitation contained in Penal Code section 1170.1, subdivision (g) could be used to bar imposition of this new status-based enhancement. (*Id.*, at p. 837.) The Court found that the double base term limitation was inapplicable to the new five- year enhancements because it would bar implication of the enhancement in situations where the base term was less than five years. In order to carry out the clear intent of the voters, the Court considered the failure to amend former section 1170.1, subdivision (g) to be a “draftsman’s oversight.” (*Id.*, at p. 838, fn. 15.) The Court, therefore, found the provision of section 667, subdivision (a) to be impliedly excluded from the double the base term limitation. (*Id.*, at p. 838.)

the following question: “Do the special venue provisions of the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) (Gov. Code, § 12965, subd. (b)) control over the general venue provisions of Code of Civil Procedure section 395, subdivision (a) where both FEHA and non-FEHA causes of action are alleged?” (*Id.*, at p. 480.) Citing the intent of the legislature that the FEHA be **liberally construed** and relying, in part, upon the absurd consequences doctrine (*Id.*, at p. 485),³ the Court held that “the special provisions of the FEHA venue statute control in cases involving FEHA claims joined with non-FEHA claims arising from the same facts. Thus, the FEHA venue statute governs the entire action and section 395 does not apply. In so construing section 12965,” the Court added the new statute to a growing list of Court created exceptions. (*Id.*, at p. 487.)

D. Excluding Those Convicted Of Merely Driving, Or Taking A Vehicle Without The Intent To Permanently Deprive The Owner Of Possession, From Proposition 47 Relief Would Lead To Absurd Consequences.

Excluding those convicted under Vehicle Code section 10851 of only driving the vehicle, or only temporarily depriving the owner of possession, from the ameliorative benefits of Proposition 47 is both patently absurd and wholly inconsistent

^{3/} The Court found that “[t]he express purpose of the FEHA is ‘to provide effective remedies which will eliminate such discriminatory practices.’ In addition, the Legislature has directed that the FEHA is to be **construed ‘liberally’** so as to accomplish its purposes.” (*Brown v. Superior Court, supra*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 486 [emphasis added, citations omitted].)

with the purposes of Proposition 47. Prior to the passage of Proposition 47, a conviction suffered under Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a) was a wobbler and, therefore, could be punished as a misdemeanor or felony – at the trial court’s discretion. (Pen. Code, § 17, subdivision (b).) After this Court’s decision in *People v. Page*, a conviction for taking a vehicle, worth \$950 or less, with the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession thereof must be punished as a misdemeanor under Penal Code section 490.2. (*People v. Page, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1186, citing *People v. Romanowski, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 908.) Yet, as the law presently stands now, those convicted of merely driving or temporarily taking a vehicle worth \$950 or less, are still left to the mercy of the sentencing judge. As a result, some defendants convicted of a less culpable act will still be subject to felony sentences, while no one convicted of the more culpable act of stealing the vehicle will ever be in peril of suffering a felony conviction. It is simply illogical to punish someone who commits a similar, but less serious, offense more harshly.

Again, “[i]t is a settled principle of statutory interpretation that language of a statute should not be given a literal meaning if doing so would result in absurd consequences which the [the voters] did not intend.’ [Citations.] Thus, ‘[t]he intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act.’” (*People v. Pieters, supra*, 52 Cal.3d at p. 898 - 899, citing *Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.) This Court has also held that courts may look to “the ballot summary and arguments” as well as “the preamble to the initiative” to discern

its intended purpose. (*In re Lance W.* (1985) 37 Cal.3d 873, 890 & fn. 10.)

The overall purpose of Proposition 47 is to “ensure that prison spending is focused on violent and serious offenses, to maximize alternatives for nonserious, nonviolent crime, and to invest the savings generated from this act into prevention and support programs in K-12 schools, victim services, and mental health and drug treatment.” (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec., *supra*, text of Prop. 47, § 2, p. 70.) Clearly, therefore, “[o]ne of Proposition 47’s primary purposes is to reduce the number of nonviolent offenders in state prisons, thereby saving money and focusing prison on offenders considered more serious under the terms of the initiative.” (*Harris v. Superior Court* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 984, 992.)

To achieve this end, Proposition 47, like the FEHA at issue in *Brown v. Superior Court*, directs “that the text of the initiative ‘shall be broadly construed to accomplish its purposes’ and ‘shall be liberally construed to effectuate its purposes.’” (*People v. Romanowski, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 909, quoting Voter Information Guide, *supra*, text of Prop. 47, §§ 15, 18, p. 74.) Certainly, downgrading the punishment for all violations of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a) “no doubt serves Proposition 47’s purposes of ‘[r]equir[ing] misdemeanors instead of felonies for nonserious, nonviolent crimes.’” (*People v. Romanowski, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 909, quoting Voter Information Guide, *supra*, text of Prop. 47, § 3.)

Conversely, treating those who merely drive the vehicle more harshly than

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