In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JULIAN MICAH BULLARD,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S239488 SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 2 1 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District Division Two, Case No. E065918 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FVI1200894 The Honorable John Peter Vander Feer, Judge

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE ABSURDITY CANON PRECLUDES PUNISHING A
CONVICTION FOR TAKING A VEHICLE WORTH LESS THAN
\$950 WITHOUT THE INTENT TO PERMANENTLY DEPRIVE THE
OWNER OF POSSESSION AS A FELONY

The question presented by this case is a narrow one. The interplay between section 10851 and Proposition 47 requires this Court to consider two aspects of section 10851. The first is the acts proscribed by section 10851: driving a vehicle or taking it. The second is the intent that will sustain a section 10851 conviction. A defendant violates section 10851 by acting with the intent to either (1) permanently deprive the owner of possession of the vehicle or (2) deprive the owner of possession for some lesser period of time. These features of section 10851—and what they mean for defendants convicted of violating that statute in light of Proposition 47's passage—can be thought of as creating a two-by-two matrix, with the relevant act on one axis and the relevant intent on another:

Which Section 10851 Convictions Does Proposition 47 Apply To?

	Taking a vehicle worth \$950 or less	Driving a vehicle
with the intent to permanently deprive owner of possession	Eligible for Proposition 47's misdemeanor sentencing provisions (<i>Page</i> , <i>supra</i> , 3 Cal.5th at p. 1184)	Not eligible for Proposition 47's misdemeanor sentencing provisions (<i>Page</i> , <i>supra</i> , 3 Cal.5th at p. 1184)
without the intent to permanently deprive owner of possession	Question presented in this case (Page, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1188, fn. 5.)	Not eligible for Proposition 47's misdemeanor sentencing provisions (<i>Page</i> , <i>supra</i> , 3 Cal.5th at p. 1184)

As discussed, in *Page* this Court held that Proposition 47 applies to only one species of section 10851 convictions: those based on "taking a vehicle" where the defendant had the intent to "permanently deprive the owner." (*Page*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1184.) But *Page* also specifically reserved the question of whether Proposition 47's misdemeanor sentencing provisions should be extended to those convicted of taking a vehicle for some lesser period of time. (*Id.* at p. 1188, fn. 5.)

This final question is the one the People understand to be presented in this case. And as to that narrow issue, the People agree that the absurdity canon requires extending Proposition 47's misdemeanor sentencing provisions to individuals convicted of taking of a vehicle worth less than \$950 without the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession. The People can think of no plausible reason for treating section 10851 convictions for taking a vehicle without the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession more harshly than those for taking a vehicle with the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession. Indeed, this

prohibition applies to a very narrow range of conduct. One can imagine a prankster towing a car as part of an elaborate hoax, for example.³ The tricksters in that scenario would "take" the vehicle without driving it and without the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession. Outside of these rather unusual circumstances, however, it is hard to envision a scenario in which a person will take, but not drive, a car without the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession.

II. NEITHER THE ABSURDITY CANON NOR THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE REQUIRES EXTENDING PROPOSITION 47 TO SECTION 10851 CONVICTIONS BASED ON THE DRIVING OF A VEHICLE WITHOUT THE OWNER'S CONSENT

While the People agree that the absurdity doctrine requires extending Proposition 47 to section 10851 convictions based on taking a vehicle without the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession, the People do not agree with Bullard's further contention that Proposition 47 also applies to section 10851 convictions based on *driving* a vehicle. There is nothing absurd or irrational about punishing the act of driving a vehicle without the owner's consent more harshly than the taking that same car.

A. It Is Not Absurd to Punish the Driving of Another's Car Without the Owner's Permission More Harshly Than the Taking of the Same Car

Bullard asserts that it is "patently absurd" to preclude those convicted under section 10851 for "only driving the vehicle" from availing themselves of Proposition 47's misdemeanor sentencing provisions.

(Appellant's Opening Brief on the Merits (OBM) 20.) Not so.

³ This was the premise of an episode of the MTV show "Punk'd," in which "Keeping Up with the Kardashians" star Scott Disick found himself in the role of the unsuspecting car owner. (See MTV International, *Dude, Where's Scott's Car - Punk'd*, YouTube https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KzgivvnmbLA [as of June 18, 2018].)

1. The absurdity canon applies only in those "rare cases" where a statute's "'literal meaning ... would result in absurd consequences which the Legislature did not intend." (Miklosy v. Regents of Univ. of California (2008) 44 Cal.4th 876, 897-898; see also Barnhart v. Sigmon Coal Co. (2002) 534 U.S. 438, 459 [U.S. Supreme Court "rarely invokes" the absurdity test to "override unambiguous legislation"].) That a particular result of the literal reading of a statute "may seem odd" does not make it "absurd." (Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Allapattah Servs., Inc. (2005) 545 U.S. 546, 565.) Indeed, an expansive understanding of the absurdity canon "can be a slippery slope." (Scalia & Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts (2012) p. 237.) It may lead to "judicial revision of public and private texts" based solely on a judge's view of what is "more reasonable." (Ibid.; see also California School Employees Ass'n v. Governing Board of South Orange County Community College Distr. (2004) 124 Cal. App. 4th 574, 588 ["We must exercise caution using the 'absurd result' rule; otherwise, the judiciary risks acting as a "super-Legislature" by rewriting statutes to find an unexpressed legislative intent"].)

There is nothing absurd about penalizing the act of driving a vehicle without the owner's consent more harshly than the taking of that same car. Driving is an inherently dangerous activity. In 2016—the most recent year for which national data are available—37,461 people died in car crashes across the United States, including 3,623 people in California.⁴ And driving a vehicle without the owner's permission poses a heightened threat to public safety. Drivers who have commandeered another person's car are more likely to be distracted by the possibility that they might get caught.

⁴ See National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Traffic Safety Facts (Oct. 2017) p. 1, 9 https://www.nhtsa.gov/press-releases/usdot-releases-2016-fatal-traffic-crash-data [as of June 18, 2018].

and are more likely to lead law enforcement on high-speed pursuits in the event that they are. (See, e.g., *People v. Montoya* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1031, 1033-1034 [after taking car, defendant led officers on "high-speed chase into Los Angeles County"]; *People v. Pater* (1968) 267 Cal.App.2d 921, 922 [similar].) And that is true whether they intend to permanently deprive the owner of possession or not.⁵ Drivers may also use these cars to commit other crimes—including violent ones. (See, e.g., *People v. Linares* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1196, 1197-1198 [defendant used own car to attempt to murder another person].)

Proposition 47's distinction between section 10851 driving convictions and taking convictions, then, is entirely sensible. And that is true whether the unlawful driving occurs as part of the act of stealing the car, or after the theft has been completed, or while joyriding.⁶ The relevant inquiry is whether a section 10851 conviction is predicated on the *driving* of another's car without the owner's permission. "By its terms," Proposition 47 does not apply to convictions based on that conduct. (*Page*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1183; see also *ibid*. [Proposition 47 applies only to the "theft form of the Vehicle Code section 10851 offense"].)

⁵ Anecdotal accounts support this common-sense conclusion. (See, e.g., Knoll & Vives, *Joy Ride in Fontana Ends Deadly for 3 Boys*, Los Angeles Times (January 30, 2009) http://articles.latimes.com/2009/jan/30/local/me-kids-chase30 [as of June 18, 2018]; Delgado, *Joyride Death Plunge: 1 Killed, 2 Badly Injured When Car Skids Off Road in Oakland Hills*, SF Gate (June 12, 2002) https://www.sfgate.com/news/article/Joyride-death-plunge-1-killed-2-badly-injured-2810443.php [as of June 18, 2018].

⁶ Cf. *People v. Solis* (2016) 200 Cal.Rptr.3d 463, 475-476, review granted June 8, 2016, 371 P.3d 241, and matter transferred Mar. 21, 2018, 413 P.3d 677 (conc. opn. of Aldrich, P.J.) [disputing the suggestion that joyriders and posttheft drivers are more dangerous than individuals who drive a car to complete a theft].

In practice, this means that if a section 10851 offense is based on "pure theft," it cannot be charged as a felony (where the value of the vehicle is \$950 or less). And when a section 10851 offense is based on either posttheft driving or joyriding, it may be charged as a felony: these crimes can only be committed by driving. (See *Van Orden*, *supra*, 9 Cal.App.5th at p. 1286 [posttheft driving and joyriding are not theft convictions].)

Whether driving theft—driving a vehicle to complete a theft—may be punished as a felony will depend on the theory that the prosecution decides to pursue. Although that crime is often characterized as a theft offense, prosecutors are not required to charge it as one. Rather, a defendant who drives a vehicle away to complete a theft may be charged with a violation of section 10851 based on *either* the decision to drive the car *or* the act of taking it. (See, e.g., *People v. Austell* (1990) 223 Cal.App.3d 1249, 1252 [recognizing that prosecutors may prosecute a section 10851 violation based solely on a driving theory].)⁷ If the prosecution decides to proceed on a theft theory, Proposition 47 applies "[b]y its terms," and the prosecution may not charge a defendant with a felony (unless the car is worth more than \$950). (*Page, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1183.) But if it elects to proceed on a driving theory, neither section 10851 nor Proposition 47 prevents the prosecution from charging a defendant with a felony; those

⁷ Of course, a defendant who has stolen a vehicle by driving it away may not be punished for both stealing the vehicle and driving it—unless the driving conviction is based on driving that occurs once there has been a "substantial break" from the initial theft. (*Page, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1188.) That is because section 654 prohibits the State from doubly punishing the same act or omission, a rule that applies "not only where there is one act in the ordinary sense, but when there is a course of conduct that constitutes an indivisible transaction." (*Pater, supra*, 267 Cal.App.2d at pp. 925-926 [discussing section 654].)

convictions "fall outside the scope of Proposition 47." (Van Orden, supra, 9 Cal.App.5th at p. 1286.) And while this may leave a driving thief's fate in the hands of a prosecutor, there is nothing absurd about that. To the contrary, criminal justice regimes often punish the same conduct under separate statutory provisions, "one of which can give rise to harsher penalties upon conviction," and leave it to the prosecutor to decide which charge to pursue. (Manduley v. Superior Court (2002) 27 Cal.4th 537, 570; see also United States v. Batchelder (1979) 442 U.S. 114, 124-152; People v. Wilkinson (2004) 33 Cal.4th 821, 838; Davis v. Municipal Court (1988) 46 Cal.3d 64, 87.)8

Nor is this conclusion undermined by those authorities that suggest that driving thefts should be construed as theft offenses in certain circumstances. (See, e.g., *Garza*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th at pp. 877-878, 880 & fn. 2; *People v. Strong* (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 366, 373-374.) The question presented in those cases was whether a defendant's section 10851 conviction barred him from being convicted of receiving stolen property in violation of section 496(a) when (1) the prosecutor presented both theft and driving theories of section 10851 to the jury, (2) the evidence at trial supported the section 10851 conviction on either theory, (3) the trial court's instructions did not require the jury to choose between them, and (4) the jury's guilty verdict did not disclose which section 10851 theory it convicted the defendant of. (*Garza*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th at p. 871; *Strong*, *supra*, 30 Cal.App.4th at pp. 373-374.) Under those facts, courts have suggested that if the "evidence showed only one continuous violation of

⁸ These authorities address situations in which two separate statutes impose different penalties for the same criminal conduct. That does not, however, make them distinguishable. Section 10851 is one statute, but it "prohibits driving as separate and distinct from the act of taking." (*Jaramillo*, *supra*, 16 Cal.3d at p. 759, fn. 6.)

section 10851, in which the driving was part and parcel of the taking, then a conviction for driving *or* taking" under section 10851 should be considered a theft conviction. (*Strong*, *supra*, 30 Cal.App.4th at p. 374, original italics; *Garza*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th at pp. 877-878 [similar].)

Nothing in these cases displaces the normal rule that district attorneys may choose which theory of a case to pursue when prosecuting criminal conduct that can be charged under multiple statutes that impose different punishments. (See *Manduley*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 570.) At most, they suggest that under the narrow circumstances described above, courts should construe section 10851 convictions as theft offenses for purposes of section 496(a)'s bar on convicting a person for stealing and receiving the same property, if the evidence at trial demonstrates that a defendant only drove a car as "part and parcel" of his crime of stealing of the same. (*Strong*, *supra*, 30 Cal.App.4th at p. 374.) Even that conclusion is only implied; neither court held as much, because the evidence introduced at trial indisputably established that the defendant had driven the vehicle after the original theft was complete. (*Garza*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th at p. 882; *Strong*, *supra*, 30 Cal.App.4th at pp. 375-376.)

In any event, even if driving theft must be prosecuted as a theft offense under the circumstances described above, that does not mean that it was absurd for the voters to limit Proposition 47's misdemeanor sentencing provisions to section 10851 crimes based on the taking of a vehicle. That a literal reading of a statute yields an "odd" consequence does not make the law "absurd." (Exxon Mobil Corp., supra, 545 U.S. at p. 565.) This Court has repeatedly stressed that section 10851 prohibits "driving as separate and distinct from the act of taking." (Jaramillo, supra, 16 Cal.3d at p. 759, fn. 6; Garza, supra, 35 Cal.4th at p. 876 [same]; People v. Barrick (1982) 33 Cal.3d 115, 135 [same].) And the electorate deliberately chose not to extend Proposition 47's misdemeanor sentencing provisions to section

10851 convictions based on unlawful driving. (See *post*, pp. 28-30.) Thus, even assuming that Proposition 47 applies to driving theft under certain scenarios, the voters' decision to limit the Act in this way was not absurd. Any person who drives a car without the owner's consent presents heightened public safety risks. And the voters may adopt measures that make "California a safer place, even if only marginally and incrementally." (*Kasler v. Lockyer* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 472, 491.)

2. Accepting Bullard's argument would produce an anomalous result of its own. It would inevitably draw the courts into the debate over which crimes should be punished as misdemeanors, and which should be punished as felonies. Section 10851 penalizes two acts—driving a vehicle or taking one. It does so, however, only because of a historical happenstance. Originally, California law only made it a felony to "drive or operate" another's car without the owner's permission. (Former General Laws § 28, 1913.) In 1931, the Legislature amended that statute by adding the words "or take." (Stats. 1931, ch. 1026, § 60, p. 2133; see also *ante*, p. 10 [describing the history of section 10851's precursors].) But the Legislature could have taken a different course and adopted a second statute, one that made it a felony to take another's car without his or her consent. Had the Legislature done so, Proposition 47 would only apply to that hypothetical taking statute. (See *Page*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 1184 [Proposition 47 applies only to section 10851 convictions based on "taking a vehicle"].)

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